I 

I
. I 
I 

ASSIGNMENTS. OF ERROR 

I. The Circuit Court erred by holding that the Commissioner did not abuse his 

discretion by assessing the monetary penalty under W. Va. Code § 16-9D-8(a) against 

Ashland Specialty Co., Ina. ("Ashland Specialty") for selling delisted cigarettes at the 

maximum allowable percentage rate of 500% of the cigarettes' retail value allowable, as 

the Commissioner . admittedly does automatically in every instance, taleing no 

circumstances into account, rather than 0% or something closer to 0% (e.g., 25% or less). 

n. The Circuit Court erred by holding that the assessed penalty--which is the

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 


I. Introduction 

This is an appeal of a Kanawha Circuit Court Order. overturning the Augu~t 18, 2014· 

final order of the Office of Tax Appeals ("OT A"). The OT A found that Respondent, State Tax 

Commissioner ("Commissioner"), abused his discretion by assessing a monetary penalty against 

Ashland Specialty for its inadvertent sale of OP-Galaxy Pro brand cigarettes in West Virginia 

during a brief period immediately following that brand's removal from the West Virginia 

Approved Brands List for Non-Participating Manufacturers ("List"). The Commissioner imposed 

the penalty ofW. Va. Code § 16-9D-8(a) at the maximum rate of 500% of the subject cigarettes' 

retail value. The. Commissioner admitted he automatically applies this particular penalty at the 

maximum 500% rate in every instance, the availability of lesser percentages from 0% to 499% 

and other penalties notwithstanding, and the OTA lowered the penalty percentage. Ashland 

Specialty also alleged that the penalty assessed should have been cancelled (0%) or further 

reduced to close to 0% (e.g., 25%) and also that the penalty ran afoul of the Excessive Fines 

Clauses of the United States and West Virginia Constitutions. Both pru.iies appealed. The 

Kanawha Circuit Court reinstated the penalty at the maximum rate of 500%. Ashland Specialty 

appealed. 

n. Statement of Facts 

(A) The List. 

As a result of the Master Settlement Agreement ("MSA") be~een West Virginia, 45 

other states, and various tobacco manufacturers in 1998, the West Virginia Legislature enacted 

. Article 9D of Chapter 16 of the state code, which created various violations and penalties under 
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the MSA. OTA FinClings of Fact ("FOF"), ~~ 2-3 (Appx. 253~254).1 These statutes require the· 

Commissioner to maintain an online directory (i.e., the List) that contains the name and brand 

names of all cigarette manufacturers that are auth011zed to be sold in the State of West Virginia. 

Kanawha Circuit Court ("KCe") FOF, ~ 3 (Appx. 194). Pursuant to West Virginia Code § 16

9D-3(c), only cigarettes on the List are permitted to be sold in West Virginia. ld. ~. 4 (Appx. 

194), Manufacturers of cigarettes that do not participate.in the MSA deposit an amount in escrow 

under West Virginia Code § 16-9D-6 for their cigarettes sold in West Virginia. 

(B) Ashland Specialty, its 2009 Cigarette Sales, and its Corrective ~easures 
Upon Realizing It Had Sold De-Listed Cigarettes. 

Ashland Specialty is a Kentucky corporation that distributes convenience store items, 

including cigarettes, to customers in West Virginia and other states. KCC FOF ~ 1 (Appx. 194). 

Ashland Specialty has held a state-issued license to stamp and sell cigarettes in West Virginia 

since 1989, and its annual income from all operations everywhere is generally between $200,000 

and $300,000. ld. ~ 2; Pet'r Exs. 6, 7, & 8 (Appx. 416; 417; 418); Iir'g Tr. at 23: 3-4; 41:22

42:22 (Appx. 567, 525-526). 

In 2009, the tax y~ar at issue, Ashland Specialty sold·over 26 million packs of ~igarettes 

in West Virginia. Pet'r Ex. 5 (Al'Px. 409). Out of those 26 million packs, however, Ashland 

Specialty mistakenly sold 1,210 cartons (12,210 packs) of GP/Galaxy Pro cigarettes and 2 

cartons (20 packs) of Berley cigarettes during June through September 2009, a time when those 

brands were not on the List in West Virginia. OTA FOF ~ 5 (Appx .. 254). Ashland Specialty 

discovered its error in September 2009 and con'ected it on its own. 

A Proposed Appendix is tendered herewith. References to the page numbers of the Proposed Appendix shall 
appear herein as Appx. ----> with further identifying references (e,g., to paragraphs or exhibits) when 
appropriate. 
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(C) Ashland Specialty's Prior Two Incidents Resulting From Keying Errors. 

Ashland Specialty had been audited twice before, once for the period January 1, 2001 

through November 30, 2003 and once for the period May 1, 2005 through February 29, 2008. 

KCC FOF " 6-7 (Appx. 195)~ Pet'r Ex. 10; 11 (Appx. 426, 439). In the first audit, the 

Department discovered that Ashland Sp~cialty had sold 5.6 cartons of de-Listed cigarettes. KCC 
. 	 , ! 

; 

FOF ~ 6 (Appx. 195); Pet'r Ex. 10 (Appx. 426); Hr'g Tr. at 23:10 to 24:6 (Appx. 507-508). In I 
I

the second audit, the Department discovered that Ashland Specialty had sold 62' cartons of de i 
I

Listed cigarettes. KCC FOF ~ 7 (Appx. 195); Pet'r Ex. 11 (Appx. 439); Hr'g Tr. 23:10 to 24:10 I 
I(Appx. 507-508). To put this in perspective, over the course of two separate almost three-year 	 I 
i 

periods (roughly 'six year~), Ashland Specialty had,. out of the approximately 1.3 million it sells 

each year, sold less than 70 cartons of cigarettes that were not on the List for which. the 

Department assessed and Ashland Specialty paid the'penalty at the 500% rate, which amounted 

to approximately $8,635, an amount too small to contest as a practical matter. KCC FOF , 6-7 

(Appx. 195); Pet'r Exs. 10 & 11 (Appx. 426,439). These two incidents resulted from computer 

keying errors. Hr'gTr. 46:18-21 (Appx. 530). 

(D) .Circumstances Leading to the Sale of De-Listed Cigarettes and Ashland 

Specialty's Self-Identification and Self-Correction of the Error. 


The cigarettes at issue here were mistakenly sold due to several unforeseen, and in many 


ways, uncontrollable, circumstances that impacted Ashland Specialty's ability to identify 

cigarette br~ds that had been removed from the List. OTA FOF ~ 6 (Appx. 254); Hr'g Tr. at 

24:16 to 25:19 (Appx. 508-509). The Circuit Court's holding that "Ashland Specialty's failure to 

have a system in place which prevented the sale ofde-listed cigarettes was not beyond its control 

[KCC FOF , 10]" (Appx. 195) is clearly against the ,weight of the evidence and the findings of 

the fact ,finder, the OTA. Prior to· June 2009, Ashland Specialty fired its operations manager 
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abruptly upon their discovery that he was stealing cigarettes. IJr'g Tr. at 24:16 to.25:19 (Appx. 

508-509). This individual's job duties included ensuring the company's compliance with the 

List. ld. Ashlan<;l Specialty hired a new operations manager to re:place the terminated manager 

and perfonn his duties, including those concerning List compliance, but he too was unable to " 

perfonn his duties as req~ired due to personal issues that resulted in his resignation soon after .. 

Hr'g Tr. at 25:10-15 (App~. 509). Because the new operations manager was unable to perf01111 

those job duties, Ashland Specialty promoted another employee, Lisa Smith, to perform the 

duties of ¢.e operations manager. Hr'g Tr. at 28:13-18 (Appx. 512). This is what any other 

business would do in such a circumstance. 

Because of the terminated operations manager's abrupt and unplanned departure, 

Ashland Specialty did not have the benefit of a knowledge transfer regarding duties, including 

those related to compliance with the List, and the tel111inated manager's replacements were not 

"added to the Department's email list notification for removals and additions of brands from/to 

the List. Hr'g Tr. at 27:6 to 28:18; 40:15-21 "(Appx. 511-512; 524). Ashland Specialty therefore 

did not receive any notification from the Department (via email or otherwise) indicating that GP-

Galaxy Pro br~d cigarettes were "to be removed from the List on Ju~e 21, 2009. Hr'g Tr. at 

26:7-10 (Appx. 510). 

Further complicating matters) during the relevant time period, GP-Galaxy Pro was known 

as GP, GP-Galaxy Pro, and Galaxy Pro, all of which were manufactured by Phoenix Industria e 

Comercio de Tabacos Ltda. ("Phoenix"). Hr'g Tr. at 26:1-6 (Appx:"510); Pet'r Ex. 1 (Appx. 

403). Therefore, it was difficult to tell that the brand had in fact been removed from the List, 

especially when the brand rem!rlned on approved brand lists in other states. Hr'g Tr. 38:3-5; 48:9 

" " 

(Appx. 522, 532); Pet'r Ex. 2 (Appx. 404). Because of this confusion and because of the 
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unexpected and abrupt staffing changes at Ashland Specialty, the company sold 1,221 cartons of 

GP-Galaxy Pro brand cigarettes in West Virginia immediately following the brand's removal 

from the List on June 21., 2009. Resp. Ex. 1; Pet'r Ex. 9 (Appx. 426). 

Ashland Specialty electronically reported the sales, which took place 41 late June and 
. . 

July, to the Department in July and August of2009. Hr'g Tr. at 26:14-16 (Appx. 510). However, 

the Department did not notify or otherwise contact Ashland Specialty to inform it ~at GP-

Galaxy Pro had been just removed from the List after receiving Ashland Specialty's sales reports 

in July and August 2009. "Hi'g Tr. at 26:17 to 27:5 (Appx..510-511). Instead, Ashland Specialty 

discovered the error on its own, which it did in September of 2009, when Bud Copley, Vice 

President of Ashland Specialty, determined that GP-Galaxy Pro had been removed from the List. 

Hr'g Tr. at 27:6-19 (Appx. 511). Ashland Specialty immediately ceased the sale of GP-Galaxy 

Pro brand cigarettes in West Virginia. Hr'g Tr. 27:6-19 (Appx. 511). Ashland Specialty also 

changed the way its system handles·brands and their List status so as to prevent sales of off-List 

cigarettes in the future. Hr'g Tr. 27:20 to 28:18 (Appx. 511-512). After the changes were made 

to the system, Ashland Specialty sold just 2 cartons ofoff-List Berley brand cigarettes in June of . . 

2010. Resp. Ex. 1 (Appx. 370); Hr'g Tr. at 28:19 to 29:3 (Appx. 512-513). 

On the sale of these off-List GP-Galaxy Pro and Berley cigarettes, Ashland Specialty 

made a profit ofapproximately $2,500. Hr' g Tr. at 8:7-8 (Appx. 492). 

~ January 2010, a few months after the involved sales, West Virginia put GP-Galaxy Pro 

cigarettes back on the List. Hr'g Tr. 7:1-9; Pet'r Ex. 1 (Appx.403). 

(E) The 2012 Penalty Assessment, Three Years After, the 2009 Incident. 

Nearly 3 years after the incident, the Department issued an Audit Notice of Assessment 

on August 3,2012, assessing "additions to tax" in the amount of $159,398 on the sales of GP-

Galaxy Pro and Betley cigarettes at issue. KCC FOF ,~ 8 & 9 (Appx. 195); Resp. Ex. 1 (Appx. 
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370), Pet'r Ex. 9 (Appx. 426). The Department assessed a penalty at the maximum rate of500% 

of the retail value of the cigarettes.. Id. In computing this penalty, the Department did not take 

into consideration any factors, whether aggravating or mitigating. Hr' g Tr. at 59:20-22; 65: 15-21 

(Appx. 543, 549); Resp. Ex. 1; Pet'r Ex. 9 (Appx. 370, 426). Instead, the pepartment 

automatically assessed this penaltY at the maximum rate of 500%. Hr'g Tr. 67:11 (Appx. 551). 

(F) Procedural History of Ashland Specialty's Appeal. 

Ashland Specialty timely appealed the assessment, arguing that the Department had acted 

arbitrarily by failing to exercise discretion and acted unconstitutionally in violation of the 

Excessive Fines Clauses of the United States and West Virginia Constitutions. A hearing was 

held on August 27,2013. The OTA issued its Final Decision On August 18, 2014, finding that 

the Department abused its discretion by automatically assessing this penalty at the maximum rate 

of 500%. OTA Conclusions of Law (COL), , 8 (Appx. 261). The OTA did not reach Ashland 

Specialty's constitutional claims. The OTA modified the penalty from $159,398 to $119,548.50 

(a 375% penalty), but it did not give any reasoning, other than the Department's abuse of 

discretion. OTA COL, 10 (Appx. 261). 

Ashland Specialty appealed the OTA's decision to the Circuit Court of Cabell County on 

October 17, 2Q14, where it was assigned to the Honorable Christopher D. Chiles. The 

Department appealed the OTA's decision to the Circuit Court of Kanawha County on October 

17, 2014 (Civil Action No. 14-AA-I02). Ashland Specialty filed a Motion to Transfer and 

Consolidate, and Judge Chiles entered a Transfer Order and sua sponte ordered that the Cabell 

County case be transfelTed to Kanawha County where it was subsequently assigned to Judge Tod 

Kaufman (Civil Action No. 15-AA-55). KCC Ord. at 193. 

On October 22,2015, the parties filed a Joint Motion to transfer Civil Action No. 15-AA

55 and consolid~te with Civil Action No. 14-AA-I02, pending before Judge Carrie L. Webster. 
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KCC Ord. at 193. The Motion To Consolidate remains pending before the Kanawha Circuit 

COilrt.ld. On October 28,2015, Judge Kaufman dismissed Civil Action 15~AA~55 on the basis 

that it was a duplicate filing. ld. 

The Kanawha Circuit Court issued an Order on April 11, 2017 overturning the decision 

of the OTA and reinstating the penalty assessed at the maximum 500% rate. The Court also held 

that the penalty did not run afoul of the Excessive Fines 'Clauses of the United States and West 

Virginia Constitutions. Ashland Specialty timely appealed to this Court. 

S~YOFARGUMENT 

The Kanawha Circuit Court's holding perpetuates the original sin of the Commissioner, 

namely, the failure to exercise d~scretion by admittedly automatically applying a penalty at the 

maximum 500% rate without regard to any mitigating factors. While the OTA correctly found 

that the Commissioner did not exercise any discretion and reduced the penalty, it too failed to 

take into account the numerous mitigating factors at play here. The plain language of W. Va. 

Code § 16-9D-8(a) requires the Commissioner to exerCise discretion, i.e., taking all mitigating or 

aggravating factors into account, and by failing to do so, the Commissioner, the OTA, and the 

Circuit Court have ignored the intent of the West Virginia General Assembly. The many factors 

present warrant a further reduction or a complete abatement of the penalty. 

Furthermore, the penalty as assessed violates the Excessive Fines Clauses of the United 

States and West Virginia Constitutions, which require a penalty to be proportionate to the 

offense. The penalty was plainly excessive and disproportionate to selling de-listed cigarettes 

which netted Ashland Specialty a profit of just $2,500. The $159,398 penalty is 64 times the 

profit and the equivalent offorfeiting them more than 5 times over and 35 times the MSA escrow 

and is thus grossly disproportionate to the gravity of the offense under the circumstances. 
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Especially. here, where no hann was done and deterrence was in-elevant given Ashland 

Specialty's self-discovery and self-correction of its error, the penalty assessed three years 

afterwards is unconstitutional. 

In overturning the OTA's decision, the Circuit Court en'oneously substituted its judgment 

for that of the OTA. This holding' undennines the administrative process by ignoring key 

findings of the OTA, which held an administrative hearing and acted as the fact finder. Based on 

the evidence it accepted at the hearing, the OT A found that the Tax Commissioner did not 

exercise the required discretion in automatically applying the penalty at the maximum 500% rate. 
. . 

The Circuit Court erred by looking past these facts to overturn the OTA's decision. 

However, the OTA also erred by not modifying the penalty further downward given the 

multiple mitigating factors and constitutional limitations on such a disproportionate penalty. This 

Court should also review the OTA's findings as they relate to those mitigating factors and abate 

the penalty completely or reduce it to nearly $0. 

Finally, by transferring the case to the Kanawha Circuit Court sua sponte, the Cabell 

Circuit Court denied Ashland Specialty its due process rights. Ashland Specialty was not 

afforded an opportunity to be heard on how the transfer would affect it and the disadvantages it 

may face by not allowing it to choose its venue. The case was properly appealed to Cabell 

Circuit Court, and it was this, Court alone who had the jurisdiction to detennine whether that 

action was properly filed before it could be transferred, sua sponte or otherwise. 

9 




. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Ashland Specialty requests oral argument pursuant to R.A.P. 19 and R.A.P. 2 0. This case 

is appropriate for oral argument under R.A.P. 19 because it involves assIgnments of error in the 

application of settled law, it claims an unsustainable exercise of discretion where the law 

governing that discretion is settled, and it claims a result against the weight of the evidence. It is 

also appropriate under R.A.P. 20 because i~ involves a constitutional question regarding the 

validity of a court ruling. Because the case involves both R.A.P. 19 and R.A.P. 20, a 

memorandum decision is likely not appropriate. 

ARGUMENT 

I. Standard of Review 

"The same standard set out in the State Administrative Procedures Act, W. Va. Code, 

29A-1-1, et seq., is the standard of review applicable to review of the Tax Commissioner's 

decisions .... " Frymier-Halloran v. Paige, 193 W.Va. 687, 458 S.E.2d 780 (1995). The West 

Virginia Administrative Procedures Act provides that "an agency action may be ·set aside if it is 

'[c]learly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; 

. or ... [a]rbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted 

exercise of discretion.'" ld. at 695, 458 S.E.2d at 788 (quoting W. Va. Code § 29A-5

4(g)(5) and -4(g)(6)(1964)). It may also be overturned if it is "in violation of constitutional or 

statutory provisions." W. Va. Code § 29A-5-4(g)(I). Although the "clearly wrong" and the 

"arbitrary and capricious" standards of review are deferenti8J. ones, the decision must be 

"supported by substantial evidence or by a rational basis." Frymier-Halloran, 193 W.Va. at 695. 

"[T]he clearly erroneous nl1e does not protect findings made on the basis of incorrect 

legal standards." ld. at 695 n. 13. Furthermore, "[w]here the issue on an appeal from the circuit 

court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a de 
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· . 
novo standard of review." Charleston Area Medical Center, Inc. v. State Tax Dep't of West 

Virginia, 224. W.Va. 591, 595 (2009) (internal citation omitted). Thus, "[o]n appeal of an 

administrative order from a circuit court, this Court is bound by the statutory standards contained 

in W. Va. Code § 29A-5-4[ ] and reviews questions of law presented de novo; findings of fact 

by the administrative officer are accorded deference unless the reviewing court believes the 

findings to be clearly wrong." Syl. Pt. 1, Muscatell v. Cline, 196 W.Va. 588, 474 S.E.2d 518 

(1996). 

Here, in view of the entire record, the Circuit CoUrt's self-characterized finding of "fact" 

that the circumstances that led Ashland Specialty to sell off-List cigarettes were "not beyond its 

control" [KCC FOF ~ 10 (Appx. 195)] was: [1] in actuality a conclusion of law applied to 

undisputed facts; [2] if indeed a fact rather than a legal conclusion, "clearly wrong in view of the 

reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record"; and, [3] if a fact, not according 

the proper deference to the fact-finder, i.e., the OTA. W. Va. Code § 29A-5-4(5). Moreover, in 

light of the evidence in the record, the Circuit Court erred by not holding that the Department 

failed to take all mitigating factors into account, and the OTA erred by not according such 

mitigating factors into account in failing to fully abate the penalty or reduce it so close to 0%. 

Ashland Specialty submits that errors here were in application of the law regarding abuse 

of discretion to undisputed facts, and those questions are subject to de novo review by this Court. 

Charleston Area Medical Center, supra. Furthennore, Ashland Specialty has alleged violations 

of the Excessive Fines Clauses of the United States and West Virginia Constitution, which are 

obviously supject to de novo review. Muscatell, supra; W. Va. Code § 29A-5-4(1). 
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II. The Circuit Court erred by holding that the Commissioner did not abuse his 
discretion by assessing the monetary penalty. of W. Va. Code § 16-9D-8(a) against 
Ashland Specialty for selling delis ted cigarettes at the maximum percentage rate of 
500% allowable,as the Commissioner admittedly does automatically in every 
instance, taking no circumstances into account, rather than 0% or something less 
than 500% (e.g., 25%). 

Under W. Va. Code § 16-9D-8(a), the Department may assess additions to tax, i.e., 

penalties, for a violation of allY of the laws of Chapter 16 of the West Virginia Code as follows: 

The commissioner may also impose a civil penalty in an amount 
not to exceed the greater of five hundred percent of the retail value 
.of the cigarettes or five thousand dollars upon a determination of 
violation. of subsection ( c), section three of this article or any rules 
adopted pursuant thereto. The penalty shall be imposed and 
collected in the manner that tax is assessed and collected under 
article ten, chapter eleven of this code .... [emphasis supplied]. 

Accordingly, the Tax Commissioner may .assess this penalty of up to 500% on the retail

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