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

unconstitutionally excessive. There is no disagreement that "[t]he touchstone of the 

constitutional inquiry under the Excessive Fines Clause is the principle of proportionality: The 

amount of the forfeiture must bear some relationship to the gravity of the offense that it is 

designed to punish." Bajakajian at 324. However, Ashland Specialty fails to acknowledge that an 

examination of proportionality brings its past compliance into consideration. In Bajakajian, the 

U.S. Supreme Court concluded that the criminal forfeiture of $357,144 in currency was grossly 

disproportionate to the offense of failing to report exported currency. Bajakajian at 337. Unlike 

Ashland Specialty, Bajakajian was not a three-time offender whose distribution of unapproved 

cigarette brands created potential public safety concerns. 

It its lengthy discussion of Bajakajian, Ashland Specialty also declined to mention the 

Court's discussion that when deriving a constitutional excessiveness standard "judgments about 

the appropriate punishment for an offense belong in the first instance to the legislature." 

Bajakajian at 336 (citing Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277, 290 (1983) ("Reviewing courts ...should 

grant substantial deference to the broad authority that legislatures necessarily possess in 

determining the types and limits of punishments for crimes")). When viewed in light of the West 
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Virginia Legislature's prescribed penalties for distributing non-approved tobacco brands, the 500 

percent penalty imposed upon Ashland Specialty is not grossly disproportionate. 

The West Virginia Constitution also references proportionality and specifically provides 

that "[p]enalties shall be proportional to the character and degree of the offense." W.Va. Const. 

Art. 3 § 5. The imposition of a 500 percent penalty is proportional to the offense because 

Ashland Specialty sold non-approved brands and has done so on previous occasions. R. at 195. 

Ashland Specialty was penalized with a 500 percent penalty for its first two infractions. R. at 

195. Its request for this Court to entirely eliminate the penalty for a third and amplified offense 

lacks any sense of proportion. 

In its brief to this Court, the Petitioner asserts that its history of previous infractions "are 

not factors that determine whether the penalty is unconstitutional." Petitioner's Brief, pg. 23. 

While asking that its history of escalating offenses be ignored, Ashland Specialty is requesting 

this Court to give weight to its bookkeeping failures and staffing issues, for which there is no 

statutory basis. As held by the Circuit Court, "[g]iven that Ashland is asking this Court to 

consider a multitude of extraneous facts in re-examining the Tax Commissioner's discretion, it is 

contradictory for Ashland to argue that the Court should disregard a history of previous 

violations." R. at 201. 

In evaluating the reasonableness of the imposed penalty, it is important to note that the 

Tax Commissioner did not assess the maximum penalty allowable by statute. In its brief, 

Ashland Specialty repeatedly mischaracterizes the original penalty as the "maximum" while 

failing to acknowledge more stringent penalty options provided for in the statute. See W.Va. 

Code § 16-9D-S. Specifically, the Tax Commissioner did not impose the maximum monetary 
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penalty of $61 million and did not revoke Ashland Specialty's business registration certificate, 

which would have taken away its ability to transact business in this State. As the Circuit Court 

concluded, the $159,398.00 assessment is exponentially less than the maximum allowable 

penalty or the monetary ramifications of having its business registration certification revoked. R. 

at 211. 

The nature of the offense is also instructive. The United States Supreme Court has held 

that fines "must bear a proportionate relationship to the gravity of the offense it is designed to 

punish." Bajakajian at 327 (1998). The purpose of enforcing a directory of approved brands is to 

do all that can be done within the State's power to ensure that there is no potential reduction in 

the annual payment the State receives from the Master Settlement Agreement. See W.Va. Code § 

16-9D-1. Ashland Specialty's placement of illegal cigarettes into the West Virginia marketplace 

for a third time threatened West Virginia's ability to safeguard its annual tobacco payment. As 

argued above, Ashland's Specialty further allowed uncertified cigarettes to enter the West 

Virginia marketplace which bypassed requirements pertaining to fire safety, labeling, packaging, 

etc. 

This Court has previously addressed the issue of excessive civil penalties and ultimately 

concluded that "[c]ivil penalties are rarely found to be excessive. This is because statutes 

awarding penalties dictate the minimum and maximum amounts that may be awarded." 

Vanderbilt Mortgage and Finance, Inc. v. Cole, 230 W.Va. 505, 740 S.E.2d 562 (2013). The 

Vanderbilt Court found that the statutory language provided creditors with reasonable warning 

that should they violate the provisions described in West Virginia Code § 46A-5-101(1), they 

may be subject to a civil penalty. Just as the West Virginia Consumer Credit and Protection Act 
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detailed potential penalties to mortgage lenders in Vanderbilt, the Complementary Legislation at 

issue delineates the potential penalties that can be imposed upon entities that sell non-approved 

cigarettes brands. That is precisely the situation before this Court. Given the assessment and 

payment of two previous 500 percent penalties (R. at 195), in addition to the clear and 

unambiguous language found in West Virginia Code § 16-9D-8(a), Ashland Specialty was 

provided with reasonable warning that it would face a sizeable penalty should it again sell non

approved cigarettes brands. 

The United States Supreme Court has also rejected a challenge to a civil penalty alleged 

to be unconstitutional. See St. Louis I.M & S. Ry. Co. v. Williams, 251 U.S. 63 (1919). The 

standard set forth in Williams provides that constitutional challenges to awards of statutory 

penalties must demonstrate that the award is "so severe and oppressive as to be wholly 

disproportioned to the offense and obviously unreasonable." !d. at 67. Petitioner has not and 

cannot demonstrate that the Tax Commissioner's assessment of a 500 percent penalty, which 

falls within the parameters of allowable penalties, meets that high standard especially where the 

maximum allowable monetary penalty was not imposed. 

C. 	 The Circuit Court did not improperly substitute its judgment for that 
of the Office of Tax Appeals when it reinstated the original penalty 
imposed by the West Virginia State Tax Commissioner. 

Contrary to the assertions in the Petitioner's third assignment of error, the Circuit Court 

did not improperly substitu,te its judgment for that of the Office of Tax Appeals. Rather, the 

Circuit Court gave appropriate deference to the original penalty imposed by the State Tax 

Commissioner which was erroneously supplanted by OTA. Ashland Specialty's argument is 

internally inconsistent if not wholly contradictory. On one hand, Ashland Specialty claims that 
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the Circuit Court order is permeated with improper substitution of its judgment for that of OTA. 

On the other hand, Ashland Specialty does not seek reinstatement of the OT A penalty but instead 

seeks its reduction or elimination. 

This Court had held that "[a]n inquiring court-even a court empowered to conduct de 

novo review-must examine a regulatory interpretation of a statute by standards that include 

appropriate deference to agency expertise and discretion." CB&T Operations Co., Inc. v. Tax 

Commissioner oiState, 211 W. Va. 198,564 S.E.2d 408 (2002). Furthermore, "[i]nterpretations 

of statutes by bodies charged with their administration are given great weight unless clearly 

erroneous." Syl. pt. 4, Security Nat. Bank & Trust Co. v. First W Va. Bancorp, Inc., 166 W.Va. 

775, 277 S.E.2d 613 (1981). In this matter, the Tax Commissioner maintains the expertise 

necessary for enforcement of West Virginia's tobacco directory. As the Circuit Court ruled, 

"[t]the delegation of this power to the Tax Commissioner and not to OTA was done by the 

legislature and must be respected." R. at 206. Furthermore, "[t]he Tax Commissioner's authority 

to impose a penalty or penalties provided in the statute brought with it the responsibility to 

ensure compliance with the reporting and other responsibilities placed on cigarette manufacturers 

and those who sell and or distribute cigarettes." R. at 206. Therefore, the Circuit Court's decision 

to reinstate the original penalty imposed by the Tax Commissioner is entirely consistent with 

controlling legal authority giving deference to the Tax Commissioner. 

Ashland Specialty further asserts that the Circuit Court erroneously substituted its 

judgment for that ofOTA by ignoring OTA's findings of fact. Ashland Specialty argues that the 

Circuit Court decision is based upon facts not supported by the evidence in the record. This is 

simply not true. The only dispositive fact in this matter is that Ashland Specialty sold cigarettes 
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not appearing in the directory of approved brands and that fact is both well established in the 

record and admitted by the Petitioner. The Circuit Court's failure to weigh the inefficiencies of 

the Petitioner was a legal question subject to de novo review. 

Ashland Specialty takes specific issue with the Circuit Court's determination that its 

"failure to have a system in place which prevented the sale of de-listed cigarettes was not beyond 

its control." R. at 195. However, Ashland Specialty's defense that the mistake was attributable to 

employee absence is irrelevant and are matters in which it could have compensated. 

Ashland Specialty further contests the finding that "uncontroverted evidence establishes 

that following two audits, Ashland Specialty did not correct its behavior." R. at 201. However, 

Ashland Specialty admitted at all levels below and to this Court that it distributed non-approved 

brands. Therefore, its argument that it had an effective system in place to prevent such sales is 

contradicted by its own admissions. Its system was obviously inadequate or the sale of non

approved cigarettes wouldn't have occurred. Ashland Specialty asserts that circumstances out of 

its control frustrated its operation including employee turnover. However, despite the Petitioner's 

attempt to muddy the waters, West Virginia Code § 16-9D-3(b)(3) places the taxpayer on notice 

that it is strictly liable for ensuring that the cigarettes it sells are authorized for sale. 

In further support of its argument that the Circuit Court substituted its judgment for OTA, 

Ashland Specialty points to the fact that the Circuit Court reinstated the Tax Commissioner's 

penalty. However, the Circuit Court following precedent of this Court gave deference to the 

penalty imposed by the Tax Commissioner in view of the flexibility accorded to him In 

administrating tobacco enforcement under the plain and unambiguous language of the statute. 
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D. 	 The Circuit Court properly concluded that the original penalty 
imposed by the Tax Commissioner was appropriate and reduction or 
abatement was not warranted. 

In its fourth assignment of error, Ashland Specialty asserts that the Circuit Court erred by 

failing to hold that OT A should have modified the penalty further downward. The Petitioner 

asserts that the penalty should have been modified to near zero percent or entirely abated in light 

of its alleged mitigating factors and constitutional limitations. This assignment of error offers no 

independent legal basis from the other assignments of error asserted by the Petitioner and merely 

restates its previous arguments. As argued above, the Tax Commissioner maintains that OTA 

incorrectly reduced the original penalty and the Circuit Court order reinstating the original 

penalty should be affirmed. 

E. 	 The Petitioner was not denied due process as a result of the transfer to 
Kanawha County. 

Ashland Specialty argues that it was denied due process based upon the Cabell County 

Circuit Court's sua sponte transfer of its appeal to Kanawha County Circuit Court. Despite 

Ashland Specialty filing not one, not two, but three briefs below in support of its appeal, the 

Petitioner asserts that it was "denied the ability to present its argument to the court." Petitioner's 

Brief, pg. 34. However, Ashland Specialty's due process challenge fails because it was given a 

full and fair opportunity to litigate its appeal in a venue that the West Virginia Legislature has 

deemed appropriate. 

Article III, Section 10 of the West Virginia Constitution provides "[n]o person shall be 

deprived oflife, liberty, or property, without due process of law, and the judgment of his peers." 

Ashland Specialty bases its due process challenge on West Virginia Code § 11-10A-19(a), which 
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provides that the taxpayer or the commissioner, or both, may appeal the final decision or order of 

the Office of Tax Appeals by taking an appeal to circuit court. Ashland Specialty fails to cite to 

subsection (c) of West Virginia Code § 11-lOA-19, which provides that "if the taxpayer appeals, 

the appeal may be taken in the circuit court of Kanawha County or any county ... [w ]herein the 

activity sought to be taxed was engaged in or [w]herein the taxpayer resides ... " As a result of 

West Virginia Code § 11-1 OA-19( c), it is difficult for Ashland Specialty to argue that it was 

denied due process when it was able to prosecute its appeal in one of the statutorily prescribed 

venues. 

The Petitioner further relies upon a West Virginia Supreme Court decision which held 

that a party is entitled to due process "before the deprivation [of a right] occurs unless a 

compelling public policy dictates otherwise." North v. West Virginia Bd. ofRegents, 160 W.Va. 

248, 256 (1977). Ashland Specialty's reliance on North is misplaced as this decision actually 

demonstrates that Ashland Specialty was afforded due process. The North Court held that before 

a student could be permanently expelled from a state supported university, the student was 

entitled to due process rights including a formal written notice of charges, sufficient opportunity 

to prepare to rebut the charges, opportunity to have retained counsel for the hearings on the 

charges, to confront his accusers, to present evidence on his own behalf, to have his case heard 

before an unbiased hearing tribunal, and that an adequate record of the proceedings be made. 

North at 256. 

In contrast to North, Ashland Specialty was able to fully litigate its appeal at both OT A 

and the Circuit Court. Ashland Specialty was able to, among other things, challenge the original 

Notice of Assessment with a Petition for Reassessment, create a factual record at OT A, utilize 
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legal counsel, confront Tax Department witnesses, and appeal to the Circuit Court At the Circuit 

Court level, Ashland Specialty was able to file three briefs in addition to proposed Findings of 

Facts and Conclusions of Law. Specifically, Ashland Specialty filed an opening brief in support 

of its Petition for Appeal (Supplemental Appendix at 16), a response to the Tax Commissioner's 

opening brief (R. at 134), and a reply to the Tax Commissioner's response (R. at 171). In light of 

Ashland Specialty's filings wherein it was able to argue its theories to the Circuit Court, Ashland 

Specialty has not been denied due process and was given the full opportunity to present its case. 

Ashland Specialty further failed to avail itself of the opportunity to challenge the venue 

transfer via a writ of prohibition, which this Court has determined appropriate for venue 

challenges. State ex rei. Riffle v. Ranson, 195 W.Va. 121, 464 S.E.2d 763 (1995). Justice 

Cleckley specifically stated that the inadequacy of appellate relief in matters involving "a 

substantial legal issue regarding venue" may require the resolution of such issues through the 

exercise of original jurisdiction. See Id. at 124, 464 S.E.2d at 766. In addition to failing to seek 

relief via a writ of prohibition, Ashland Specialty failed to raise a due process challenge in its 

filings in the Kanawha County Circuit Court. At no time in Kanawha County Circuit Court did 

Ashland Specialty argue that Kanawha County lacked jurisdiction to decide the appeal or that its 

due process rights had been violated by the transfer. 

Assuming arguendo that error was committed when Ashland Specialty's appeal was 

transferred from Cabell County to Kanawha County, such error was waived and is harmless. The 

"Harmless Error" rule, promulgated at Rule 61 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, 

states that "[n]o error .. .is ground for granting a new trial or for setting aside a verdict ... unless 

refusal to take such action appears to the court inconsistent with substantial justice. The court at

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